VARGAS V. JOHN MORRELL & COMPANY

Page 19

BEFORE THE IOWA WORKERS’ COMPENSATION COMMISSIONER

______________________________________________________________________



  :

JUVENTINA VARGAS,
  :
File Nos. 5027067; 5027068; 5031142


  :


Claimant,
  :



  :

vs.

  :

  A R B I T R A T I O N


  :                          

JOHN MORRELL & COMPANY,
  :

        D E C I S I O N


  :                      


Employer,
  :


Self-Insured,
  :    Head Note No.:  1100; 1108.50; 1402.20;                         

Defendants.
  :                      1402.30; 1402.40; 1802; 2209
______________________________________________________________________

STATEMENT OF THE CASE


Juventina Vargas, claimant, filed petitions in arbitration seeking workers’ compensation benefits  from John Morrell & Company, self-insured employer, as a result of an injury she allegedly sustained on September 5, 2007 and January 8, 2008 that allegedly arose out of and in the course of her employment.  This case was heard and fully submitted in Sioux City, Iowa, on October 27, 2009.  The evidence in this case consists of the testimony of claimant and claimant’s daughter, Aracelia Vargas, and claimant’s exhibits 5 through 13 and joint exhibits 1 through 34.  

At the evidentiary hearing on October 27, 2009, claimant provided a petition with an alleged injury date of April 15, 2008, and a motion to consolidate that alleged injury date with the September 5, 2007 and January 8, 2008 injury dates.  Defendant orally agreed that the matters could be consolidated and the evidentiary hearing would be held as scheduled on October 27, 2009, and claimant’s motion to consolidate was orally granted at the evidentiary hearing.  The alleged injury date of April 15, 2008, has been assigned file number 5031142.  This decision will relate to all three alleged injury dates. 
ISSUES

Whether claimant sustained an injury to the right shoulder and/or left arm on September 5, 2007, January 8, 2008, and/or April 15, 2008, which arose out of and in the course of employment;
Whether the alleged injury is a cause of temporary disability for the period April 16, 2008 through November 5, 2008; and

Whether the alleged injury is a cause of permanent disability of the left shoulder.
The issues of whether any of the alleged injuries caused a permanent disability of the right shoulder and the extent of claimant’s industrial disability are bifurcated.

FINDINGS OF FACT

The deputy workers’ compensation commissioner having heard the testimony and considered the evidence in the record finds that:
Juventina Vargas, claimant, was born in 1945 making her 64 years old at the time of the evidentiary hearing.  (Claimant’s testimony)  She is 5’3” tall and is right-handed.  (Claimant’s testimony)  She was born in Mexico, attended school there through the second or third grade when she was 11 years old and has no other formal education.  (Claimant’s testimony; Joint Exhibit 1, page 1)  She can read and write Spanish, speaks only Spanish, and does not read or understand spoken English.  (Claimant’s testimony)  She came to the United States in 1978 and was a homemaker in California until 1993.  (Claimant’s testimony; Jt. Ex. 1, p. 1)  She moved to the Sioux City, Iowa, area in 1993.  (Claimant’s testimony; Jt. Ex. 1, p. 1)  In 1998 and 1999 she worked as a production worker at a turkey processing plant.  (Jt. Ex. 1, p. 1)
Claimant was hired as a production worker beginning September 27, 1999, at John Morrell & Company, defendant-employer, (hereinafter John Morrell).  (Claimant’s testimony)  Prior to beginning work at John Morrell she completed a medical history questionnaire that indicates she denied any prior health problems or pain in the fingers, hands, wrists, shoulder, or elbows.  (Claimant’s testimony; Jt. Ex. 2, pp. 1-3)  John Morrell is in the business of slaughtering and processing hogs and has 1,330 employees.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant worked on the process side of John Morrell’s work.  (Claimant’s testimony)  Claimant’s main jobs were trimming picnic hams, skin patch, and saving fat.  (Claimant’s testimony; Jt. Ex. 6)  These jobs required repetitive hand/arm movements and push, pull, and lift.  (Jt. Ex. 7)
In October and November 1999 claimant’s new employee health questionnaires indicate she had no physical problems.  (Jt. Ex. 11, pp. 1-5)  John Morrell’s nurses’ notes indicate claimant was seen a variety of times for a variety of complaints from 2000 to 2007.  (Jt. Ex. 11, pp. 6-16)  She was also seen from time to time at St. Luke’s Occupational Services and other medical care providers.  (Jt. Ex. 12, pp. 1-6; Jt. Ex. 13, pp. 1-3; Jt. Ex. 14, pp. 1-4; Jt. Ex. 15, pp. 1-12)  In 2000 claimant was seen for, among other things, complaints of hand pain, neck and shoulder pain, and locking right fourth finger and left third finger, bilateral trigger fingers.  (Jt. Ex. H, p. 6; Jt. Ex. 12, pp. 1-6; Jt. Ex. 13, pp. 1-3)  In 2001 she was seen for right hand pain.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 7)  In 2002 she was seen for hand pain and numbness in both legs; left wrist and forearm pain and an object in the left eye.  (Exhibit 11, pages 8-9)  In 2003 claimant was seen for, among others, left deltoid pain, right hand pain, locking finger in the left hand.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 10)  In 2004 she was treated for puncture wounds in the hand and discomfort in the right knee, right elbow, right hip, and right buttock, among others, after a fall.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 11)  In 2005 she was treated for neck, bilateral shoulder and back pain attributed to the weight of a protective apron worn at work and diabetes.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 12; Jt. Ex. 14, pp. 1-4; Jt. Ex. 15, pp. 1-12)  In 2006 she was seen for right leg, back pain, GI and bilateral leg complaints, and right hand superficial poke.  (Jt. Ex. 11, pp. 14-15)  From January 5, 2007 through August 31, 2007, claimant was seen at John Morrell’s nurse’s office for complaints of left wrist pain, “FB” (understood to be foreign body) in the left eye, a hangnail infection, nonoccupational sickness, left thumb complaints after being hit by a hose, right eye irritation and burns from being sprayed on the neck and body with 180 degree water.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 16)  On September 5, 2007, claimant complained to the John Morrell’s nurse’s office of right shoulder pain that was recorded that “came on all at once denies injury.”  (Ex. 11, p. 16)  An employee’s statement was completed also on September 5, 2007, that claimant was doing the skin patch job when she felt a pop in her right shoulder on September 5, 2007.  (Jt. Ex. 5, p. 3)  From September 7, 2007 to December 6, 2007, claimant was seen seven times for right shoulder complaints.  (Jt. Ex. 11, pp. 16-18)  On December 10, 2007, Paul Peterson, D.O., claimant’s family doctor, saw her for right shoulder pain described as severe that had been gradually increasing over  the prior three months, made an assessment of right acromioclavicular joint arthrosis and injected the right shoulder that day.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 18; jt. Ex. 14, pp. 5-6)  On or about December 13, 2007, claimant was transferred to a skin patch job where she was restricted to no use of the right arm for one week.  (Claimant’s testimony; Jt. Ex. 11, p. 19)
On January 8, 2008, claimant returned to Dr. Peterson who noted she reported the shot in the right shoulder only helped for one week and she had increasing pain then in both shoulders.  (Jt. Ex. 14, p. 7)  Dr. Peterson referred claimant to Duane Nelson, M.D., a board certified orthopaedic surgeon.  (Jt. Ex. 5, p. 5; Jt. Ex. 14, p. 7; Jt. Ex. 17, p. 2)  Also on January 8, 2008, claimant was put on light duty, save fat job.  (Jt. Ex. 5, p. 5)
Claimant was seen by John Morrell’s nurse’s office on January 15, 2008, January 21, 2008, and January 25, 2008, for right arm pain.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 20)

Dr. Nelson saw claimant on January 30, 2008, and he had x-rays of both shoulders taken that were within normal limits and no degenerative change was noted; formed an impression of bilateral shoulder pain, possible adhesive capsulitis; prescribed medications and ordered an MRI of the right shoulder.  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 1-2)  Claimant was seen at John Morrell’s nurse’s office on February 6, 2008, for bilateral shoulder pain and it was noted claimant was to have an open MRI.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 20)  Dr. Nelson’s nurse noted on February 7, 2008, that an open MRI was attempted on  February 7, 2008 and claimant was unable to tolerate it.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 2)  Claimant failed to keep her February 13, 2008 appointment with Dr. Nelson’s office.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 3)  Claimant was seen at John Morrell’s nurse’s office for bilateral shoulder pain on February 18, 2008; for right shoulder pain on February 21, 2008; bilateral shoulder pain on March 22, 2008, March 28, 2008, and April 9, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 20)  
Dr. Peterson saw claimant on April 15, 2008, for bilateral shoulder pain, he ordered an MRI and took her off work until May 15, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 10; Jt. Ex. 11, p. 20; Jt. Ex. 14, pp. 8-9)  The MRI, of both shoulders was done on April 24, 2008, and interpreted to show degenerative AC joint changes with hypertrophic synovium and  osteophytes, very large, complete full thickness rotator cuff tear of the supraspinatus tendon of the left shoulder and hypertrophic degenerative acromioclavicular joint changes, large full thickness rotator cuff tear and prominent free fluid throughout the subacromial and subdeltoid bursal regions of the right shoulder.  (Jt. Ex. 14, pp. 10-11)  Dr. Nelson saw claimant on May 1, 2008, and he recorded a history that her right shoulder began to bother her when she was lifting a piece of frozen meat at work and subsequently mostly used her left arm and after several weeks of that her left arm also gave out.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 3)  Dr. Nelson noted the results of the MRIs, made a diagnosis of bilateral shoulder pain related to the rotator cuff tears and acromioclavicular joint arthrosis, discussed alternatives with claimant and scheduled surgery for the left shoulder and prescribed medication.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 3)
Claimant returned to John Morrell’s nurse’s office on May 2, 2008, and reported she had bilateral rotator cuff tears.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 20)  On May 2, 2008, a John Morrell accident investigation form was completed which indicates the accident occurred on September 5, 2007, turning frozen meat and claimant felt pain in the right shoulder and left shoulder injury occurred while on light duty with right arm restrictions.  (Jt. Ex. 5, pp. 1-2)  Dr. Nelson faxed his record to John Morrell on May 6, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 3)  A workers’ compensation manager, Thomas Dickerson, presumedly on John Morrell’s behalf, in a letter dated May 6, 2008, to claimant wrote that John Morrell was accepting the claims for right and left shoulder injuries, that it was controlling the medical care and would refer her to a doctor at C.N.O.S.  (Jt. Ex. 8)  Mr. Dickerson called Dr. Nelson on May 8, 2008, stating he wanted to cancel the scheduled surgery and get a second opinion.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 7)  Dr. Nelson spoke with claimant and she wanted to do the surgery as scheduled and he spoke with Mr. Dickerson regarding that.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 7)
On May 9, 2008, Dr. Nelson performed surgery consisting of left rotator cuff repair and distal clavicle resection and his post operative diagnosis was “chronic right [sic] rotator cuff repair and AC joint arthrois, left shoulder.”  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 4)  Also on May 9, 2008, Dr. Nelson completed a John Morrell disability form indicating claimant would be disabled from May 9, 2008 for four to six weeks.  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 6-7)  Pursuant to the request of claimant’s daughter to Dr. Nelson’s nurse on May 12, 2008, claimant was given an off work slip with a return to work June 14, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 7)  When Dr. Nelson saw claimant on May 14, 2008, for follow-up he instructed her on a home exercise program.  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 7-8)  A John Morrell accident investigation report by the safety director on May 15, 2008, wrote that an accident on September 5, 2007, at 8:00 a.m. just “wouldn’t happen” because he could not recall a time when the production group would be cutting any frozen hogs at 8:00 a.m. and claimant’s description of the event in the September 5, 2007 nurse’s note claimant denied any injury.  (Jt. Ex. 5, p. 4)  

Douglas Martin, M.D., a fellow in occupational and environmental medicine and disability evaluating physicians and a certified independent medical examiner, at the Center for Occupational Health evaluated claimant at Mr. Dickerson’s request.  (Jt. Ex. 19, p. 1; Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 4-5; Deposition Exhibit 1, pp. 4-5)  Dr. Martin took claimant’s history; did a physical examination on May 20, 2008 (“not much was done with respect to the left shoulder in the post-operative-type situation”); reviewed medical records including the April 24, 2008 MRIs of both shoulders; reviewed the jobs of saving fat and skin patch in person on May 27, 2008; noted he had reviewed the jobs 20 to 30 times in the past and prepared a report dated May 27, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 19, pp. 1-7)  The history that claimant gave Dr. Martin did not specify a specific incident that created pain in either the right or left shoulder.  (Jt. Ex. 19, pp. 2-3)  Dr. Martin noted the MRI scans for both shoulders show essentially the same findings with large degenerative osteophytic changes at the acromioclavicular joint with rotator cuff tears.  (Jt. Ex. 19, p. 4)  On examination of the right shoulder Dr. Martin found what he considered a frozen shoulder or an adhesive capsulitis.  (Jt. Ex. 19, p. 4)  Dr. Martin thought claimant’s prognosis was fair, that she would need work restrictions for the left upper extremity and an impairment rating was not appropriate because she was not at maximum medical improvement.  (Jt. Ex. 19, pp. 5-6)  Dr. Martin also wrote in his May 27, 2008, report:
The diagnostic testing clearly shows that we have a significant degenerative issue with respect to both shoulders.  My inclination here is that this degeneration has been building up over a considerable amount of time.  There is no question that rotator cuff tendinitis is typically on a continuum and eventually rotator cuff tears, in the face of these degenerative conditions, are also on a continuum.
This lady’s diabetes does play a role here, with respect to her adhesive capsulitis picture, and that is also a well known risk factor.

One must also take into consideration and know that the jobs of “skin patch” and “saving fat” do not require highly repetitive at or above shoulder level type of activities.  Neither do they require significant weights involved.

Based upon this analysis, there is insufficient medical evidence to support a causal correlation between these work activities and her current medical diagnosis. 

. . . .

There is insufficient medical evidence to substantiate a causal correlation between the job of “skin patch” or “saving fat” with respect to acromioclavicular degenerative joint disease and a rotator cuff tear.  Rather, I believe that the degenerative condition here is what has caused the rotator cuff tear, as that association is well known as being over a continuum.

. . . .

I also do not believe that the left shoulder problems have causal correlation to the work in question.  This is because of the same reason.

(Jt. Ex. 19, pp. 5-7)


Dr. Nelson saw claimant for follow-up on May 29, 2008 and she reported the pain in the left shoulder was better and the pain in the right shoulder was then greater than the left shoulder, which he thought meant the left was getting better, he continued home exercises and gave her restrictions of no use of the left arm and very light use with the right arm.  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 9-10)

Mr. Richardson referred claimant to Jeff Luther, M.D., board certified in emergency medicine and as an independent medical examiner, for an independent medical examination.  (Jt. Ex. 23)  Dr. Luther reviewed medical records, reviewed Dr. Martin’s independent medical examination report, did a physical examination of claimant on June 13, 2008, and prepared a report dated June 13, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 24, pp. 1-9)  Dr. Luther concluded the injury mechanism for the right shoulder was “certainly ill-defined including the onset of symptoms” and answered “no” to questions whether claimant’s right shoulder or left shoulder injuries had been caused or substantially aggravated by her jobs.  (Jt. Ex. 24, pp. 8-9)  Dr. Luther agreed with the findings of Dr. Martin in his May 27, 2008, report.  (Jt. Ex. 24, p. 9)  Dr. Luther also wrote in his June 13, 2008, report:
With respect to the possibility of accumulative trauma I believe Dr. Martin has assessed and ruled out any risk factors that may be associated with this type of injury.  I concur with Dr. Martin in as much as this is a degenerative process and upon review of the information surrounding the work activities I do not believe there is sufficient biomechanical risk factors to cause rotator cuff tears either left or right.

Dr. Nelson saw claimant for follow-up on June 19, 2008, and her major complaint was pain in the right shoulder and he referred her to physical therapy for her left shoulder and continued her on light duty.  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 11-12)  When Dr. Nelson saw claimant on July 16, 2008, he recorded she was not doing “well at all” and was not working and he continued light duty and physical therapy for the left shoulder.  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 13-14)
In a letter dated July 25, 2008, to claimant’s attorney Mr. Dickerson provided him Dr. Luther’s and Dr. Martin’s reports, and informed him that because of the reports John Morrell would be denying claimant future benefits and her benefits would be terminated in not less than 30 days on August 24, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 9)  Claimant was seen by a physician’s assistant in Dr. Nelson’s office on August 21, 2008, reported she was not returning to work because she was unable to dress herself and was prescribed occupational therapy and physical therapy for both shoulders to increase movement.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p.15)  John Morrell’s nurse’s office noted on August 22, 2008, that Dr. Nelson’s office gave claimant an off work slip until September 17, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 20)  Claimant returned to Dr. Nelson’s office on October 2, 2008, and reported that when she found out that John Morrell was not going to pay for the occupational physical therapy she could not afford it and she did not go anymore, she was instructed on home exercises and her attorney helped get physical therapy approved.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 16)  Claimant was given a prescription for medication and placed on light duty because she had improved to the point where she could pull her pants up and down to attend to her personal needs.  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 16-17)  The light duty was for the period October 3, 2008 to November 13, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 16-17)  Claimant had worked no hours for the pay periods ending April 26, 2008 through August 30, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 4)
In a letter dated November 6, 2008, to claimant’s attorney a physical therapist, Erin Hytnek, wrote that claimant had been seen 19 times from June 20, 2008 to August 27, 2008, she discontinued therapy because the insurance company refused to pay and claimant could not afford the costs and the therapist thought she could benefit from additional physical therapy.  (Jt. Ex. 18)  Claimant returned to Dr. Nelson on November 12, 2008, and he noted that without continued physical therapy claimant’s progress would continue to be slow, instructed her to continue home physical therapy exercises and continued light duty from November 12, 2008 to December 17, 2008.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 81)  Dr. Nelson’s physician’s assistant’s office note on November 12, 2008, recorded that claimant reported her attorney was encouraging surgical repair of the “contraleteral shoulder” and there could be physical therapy on both sides.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 18)  Claimant’s attorney in a letter dated November 24, 2008, to the physician’s assistant wrote that he wanted to clarify he had not encouraged claimant to have surgery and he had not suggested to claimant that she do anything other than follow her doctor’s recommendation.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 19) 
Claimant was seen at John Morrell’s nurse’s office on February 11, 2009, February 12, 2009, and February 18, 2009, for pain in the neck after being struck on the right forearm by a large amount of fat.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 21)  When claimant saw Dr. Nelson on February 18, 2009, she reported her left shoulder was feeling better than the right shoulder; she had been doing light duty work, trimming fat; and she got along okay working 8 hours but working 9 hours one day bothered her and he recommended she continue her present work restrictions; work on a home therapy program instead of going to physical therapy; noted the left shoulder was probably as good as it was going to get; noted surgery might be required for the right shoulder in the future but was in no hurry to do that because she had had such a slow course of recovery on the left shoulder; and told claimant to return in two month intervals.  (Jt. Ex. 16, p. 20)  John Morrell’s nurse’s office note on February 19, 2009, indicates claimant was given restrictions for the period of February 18, 2009 to April 18, 2009.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 21)  When Dr. Nelson saw claimant on April 15, 2009, he thought she was at maximum medical improvement; recommended permanent restrictions for the left arm/shoulder of three pounds maximum, push/pull activities be limited, no overhead work and no more than eight hours work per day; noted she was interested in surgery on right shoulder but he was not in a hurry to do that based on the slow recovery on the left shoulder and arthroscopic rotator cuff surgery may get her “back a little sooner” but he did not do that type of surgery and he could refer her to another surgeon who did; and released her from his care.  (Claimant’s Exhibit 13; Jt. Ex. 16, p. 21)
Claimant’s attorney wrote a letter to Michael O’Neil, M.D., board certified orthopedic surgeon, providing him information and asked him to do an independent medical examination.  (Jt. Ex. 25, pp. 1-6; Jt. Ex. 28, p. 1)  Dr. O’Neil took claimant’s history; reviewed medical records including Dr. Martin’s and Dr. Luther’s independent medical examinations and the April 24, 2008 MRIs; reviewed DVD videos showing workers performing the “skin patch” and “saving fat” jobs presumedly the same or similar video as Joint Exhibit 6 taken on June 11, 2009; did a physical examination of claimant; and prepared a report dated June 10, 2009.  (Jt. Ex. 26, pp. 1-10)  The history claimant gave Dr. O’Neil was that on or about September 5, 2007, she experienced a sudden popping sensation in her right shoulder as she was attempting to cut into a frozen piece of meat.   (Jt. Ex. 26; p. 1)  Dr. O’Neil wrote in his June 10, 2009, report regarding the right shoulder:

1.  I believe that is more probable than not that Ms. Vargas’ job requirements on the production line at John Morrell for a period of six years doing “skin patch” and particularly her incident on September 5, 2007, when she was trimming fat on a frozen ham, as well as her height (5’, 1”) was the substantial factor in accelerating or aggravating a preexisting degenerative arthritis of the AC joint and a partial or complete tear of the rotator cuff requiring medical treatment including an MRI of the shoulder which showed arthrosis of the AC joint and a full-thickness tear of the supraspinatus portion of the rotator cuff.  As mentioned in my history when Ms. Vargas was placed on a job cleaning hooks with her arms overhead her right shoulder pain increased and she requested that she be returned to her job on the production line.
2.  I also believe that Ms. Vargas is a candidate for a rotator cuff repair of the right shoulder.  Without repair, she will develop a rotator cuff arthropathy with retraction and atrophy of the supraspinatus muscle and superior migration of the humeral head with subacromial arthritis.  This condition is much more difficult to treat surgically and the outcome is not nearly as successful as if the rotator cuff were repaired before the rotator cuff arthropathy develops.  The resection of the distal clavicale and repair of the rotator cuff can be performed arthroscopically or through an open incision.
And regarding the left shoulder:


I also believe that it is more probable than not that Ms. Vargas’ work on the production line at John Morrell doing “skin patch” was a substantial factor causing an acceleration or aggravation of her preexisting degenerative arthritis of the AC joint and a partial or complete tear of the rotator cuff resulting in the need for surgery of the left shoulder performed by Dr. Nelson on May 9, 2008.
(Jt. Ex. 26, p. 9)  Dr. O’Neil rated claimant’s permanent impairment of the left shoulder as a total of 15 percent of the left upper extremity based on the result of the resection of the distal clavicle and limitation of range of motion using the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition.  (Jt. Ex. 26, p. 10)  Dr. O’Neil thought claimant should have permanent restrictions of both shoulders of no use of her arms above mid-chest level in flexion and abduction as a result of the rotator cuff tears.  (Jt. Ex. 26, p. 10)  The costs of Dr. O’Neil’s independent medical examination were $950.00 and claimant’s mileage expense for it was $118.17.  (Jt. Ex. 29, pp. 1-3)

John Morrell’s nurse’s office notes on August 11, 2009, indicate claimant had a doctor’s slip for August 9, 2009, with a return to work on August 11, 2009.  (Jt. Ex. 11, p. 21)


Dr. Martin was deposed on September 24, 2009.  (Jt. Ex. 20, p. 1)  Dr. Martin testified he has been an occupational medicine physician since 1994 (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 4-5); he was formerly the medical director at John Morrell for 8 or 9 years (Jt. Ex. 20, p. 133); he now works at St. Luke’s Center for Occupational Health Excellence, he no longer has workers’ compensation claims referred to him by John Morrell, he had a relationship with John Morrell when he prepared his May 27, 2008, report (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 4, 134-136); claimant had bilateral osteophytes (bone spurs) on both shoulders (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 7-9); osteophytes were due to old age and accumulate over time, were degenerative and they were the cause of the bilateral rotator cuff tears (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 9-10); there was no evidence that claimant’s body position in the two jobs would put any stress or force on the supraspinatus tendon, rotator cuff tendon because doing the work did not require highly repetitive work or flexion at or above 70 degrees (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 13-30, 55-68); that the medical literature suggests that the likelihood of people who develop bone spurs develop rotator cuff tears is quite high (Jt. Ex. 20, p. 31); that both he and the medical literature would disagree with Dr. O’Neil’s opinions (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 34-35); rotator cuff tears resulting from bone spurs is a “continuum” of a degenerative process and not necessarily dependent on activity (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 47-49); claimant needed the surgery on the left shoulder and may need it on the right shoulder (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 52-53); forceful gripping has no relationship to rotator cuff complex (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 71-72, 99-100); he disagreed with a study by Dr. Marras suggesting abduction above 30 degrees could cause fatigue (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 83-86); he with others did a textbook on the Evaluation of Disease and Injury Causation dealing with, among other things, shoulder tendinitis and impingement and rotator cuff tears (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 93-100; 123-125); an article by Dr. Silverstein was the only article that suggests there is a relationship of force alone and risk of injury and he disagreed that applied to arm flexion above 45 degrees (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 102-109); he disagreed with a Frost Anderson article that indicated flexion at 30 degrees was sufficient flexion to cause cumulative trauma, mechanical loading (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 111-115); he disagreed with a study by Kilbon and Persson indicating that flexion less than 70 degrees was a causation factor (Jt. Ex. 20, p. 118); he agreed with an article in the Orthopedic Clinics of North America that indicates the acromioclavicular joint can be injured by repetitive overload (Jt. Ex. 20, pp. 119-120); and that after reviewing the jobs claimant did between 20 and 30 times over the prior 15 years people doing the job have flexion postures that range somewhere between 0 to 40 degrees.  (Jt. Ex. 20, p. 121)

Claimant’s attorney wrote letters to Dr. Nelson and Jake DeNell, physical therapist with advanced certifications in various areas including orthopedic competency and interpretation of functional capacity tests, dated September 28, 2009, asking them to respond to certain questions (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 22-28; Jt. Ex. 30, pp. 1-2; Jt. Ex. 32, p. 1)  In the September 28, 2009, letter to Dr. Nelson claimant’s attorney provided him information including that on September 5, 2007, claimant developed worsening symptoms when cutting into frozen meat, while restricted to no use of the right arm developed similar symptoms in her left shoulder, her shoulder problems took “an acute turn for the worse in 2007”; and as demonstrated in the attorney’s office her job requires her “to move her arm in an arc away from her body in the range of 60º to 80º” with the right arm and the left arm “in the range of 60º to 70º.”  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 22-25)  Claimant’s attorney asked Dr. Nelson to answer yes or no statements written by the attorney.  (Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 26-28)  On September 30, 2009, Dr. Nelson answered yes to the statements:

[I]t is my opinion, based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty, and after reviewing the above history, the history contained in Ms. Vargas’ medical chart, and the job video, that her repetitive production work at John Morrell was a significant contributing factor causing or accelerating her right shoulder pathologies, resulting in the development or worsening of the AC joint abnormalities and the rotator cuff tear as seen on the MRI taken April 24, 2008.

[G]iven your current examination of Ms. Vargas, and your review of her MRI film, what is your opinion, based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty, whether she is a candidate for right shoulder surgery at this time?


If surgery on the right shoulder is deferred, given her ongoing employment in production work at John Morrell, will delay of this medical care make it more difficult to undertake a successful surgery in the future?

[I]t is my opinion based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty, and after reviewing the above history, the history of Ms. Vargas’ medical chart, and the job video, that her repetitive production work at John Morrell was a significant factor causing or accelerating her left shoulder pathologies, and resulting in the need for the left shoulder surgery performed by me on May 9, 2008.
(Jt. Ex. 16, pp. 27-28)  


Mr. DeNell responded to claimant’s attorney’s September 28, 2009, letter in a letter dated October 5, 2009, and wrote that he had reviewed the DVD of the skin patch job and the written articles the attorney had furnished.  (Jt. Ex. 31)  Mr. DeNell concluded when employees used the hook with the left hand the amount of shoulder flexion was 65 to 82 degrees on a consistent basis and 55 degrees when flipping the meat and 85 degrees of shoulder abduction with the right arm and in the save lean job the amount of left shoulder flexion was several times 85 to 90 degrees.  (Jt. Ex. 31)  The cost for Mr. DeNell’s report was $200.00.  (Jt. Ex. 33)

In a letter dated October 13, 2009, to Dr. Martin John Morrell’s attorney provided him a video of the jobs of skin patch and saving fat and informed him claimant’s counsel had had the videos reviewed by a physical therapist.  (Jt. Ex. 21)  Dr. Martin responded in a letter dated October 14, 2009, and wrote that he had reviewed the DVD of the skin patch and saving patch jobs, they were jobs he had reviewed on a number of occasions in the past and he thought it was better to have multiple in-persons visits as he had as opposed looking at a singular episode on DVD.  (Jt. Ex. 22, pp. 1-2)  Dr. Martin thought the DVD showed the shoulder motion of an individual doing the skin patch job for an “overwhelming majority of the time” for the left arm hook usage was approximately 40 to 45 degrees and the right shoulder angle with right arm knife usage was typically a “bit less.”  (Jt. Ex. 22, p. 1)  Dr. Martin also wrote that regarding the saving fat job the angle of flexion of the shoulder was no greater than 40 to 45 degrees.  (Jt. Ex. 22, p. 2)  Dr. Martin further wrote that the articles he was presented with at his deposition were: 
“minor opinion articles that conflicted, to a certain degree, the overwhelming medical evidence that was used in total to provide the recommendations, not only as espoused in the textbook, but also in other evidence based documents, such as “The Official Disability Guidelines Treatment in Workers’ Compensation.”
I would like to reiterate that it is not just the postural angle here that is important in the determination of causation.  The point seemed to be hammered home that individuals who have shoulder elevation, which include that of abduction or flexion, between 70 degrees and 120 degrees, does have some literature support for the relationship to the development of rotator cuff tears, shoulder tendinities and impingement.  However, I would caution individuals, when one looks at the overwhelming medical literature, that it is just not the motion angle itself, but, rather, whether or not this sustained motion is in place.  When one looks at the literature, specifically the NIOSH musculoskeletal articles, it is sustained shoulder postures with more than 70 degrees of flexion and abduction that have been shown to have a relationship to these types of rotator cuff tears and shoulder disorders.  A sustained shoulder posture is just as it is defined, meaning that an individual must sustain that posture for a length of time before it becomes a risk factor.  In the jobs that you have asked me to review, including that of the skin patch job and the saving fat job, not only does the shoulder flexion and abduction posture fail to get beyond 70 degrees, but even if one were to make the argument that it goes beyond 70 degrees, it certainly falls woefully short of the definition of “sustained.”  
(Jt. Ex. 22, pp. 2-3)

In a letter dated October 15, 2009, to Dr. O’Neil claimant’s attorney provided him the five articles discussed in the deposition with Dr. Martin and asked Dr. O’Neil to respond yes or no to prepared “professional opinions.”  (Jt. Ex. 27, pp. 1-2)  On October 20, 2009, Dr. O’Neil answered yes to the statements that each of the research studies was published in an authoritative treatise or journal; the authors appeared in his opinion to be recognized and reliable authorities in their respective fields of practice; and the articles’ conclusions were consistent with his opinions stated in his report.  (Jt. Ex. 27, pp. 1-2)  

An article from The Occupational Ergonomics Handbook, Second Edition entitled Fundamentals and Assessment Tools for Occupational Ergonomics, edited by William Mairas and Waldemar Karwowski, dealt with shoulder pain and neck disorders and stated that “fatigue increases rapidly as the shoulder is abducted above 30º. . . . the only position of the shoulder that is acceptable from both a strength and fatigue standpoint is a shoulder abduction of at most 30.º”  (Clmt’s Ex. 5, pp. 1-8)  An article from the National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH), 1997, entitled “Workplace Factors:  A Critical Review of Epidemiologic Evidence for Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorder of the Neck, Upper Extremity and Low Back states in relevant part:


The 1997 NIOSH report made the following statement with regard to the epidemiological evidence that links physical work factors and shoulder tendinitis:  


The evidence for specific shoulder postures is strongest where there is combined exposure to several physical factors like holding a tool while overhead.  The strength of the association was positive and consistent in six studies that used diagnosed cases of shoulder tendinitis 
or a combination of symptoms and physical findings consistent with tendinitis as the health outcome  (Ex. 26-1)

(Ex. 6, pp. 1-9)


An article from Int. Arch Occup Environ Health 1984, Mats Hagberg, (1984) entitled:  Occupational Musculoskeletal Stress and Disorders of the Neck and Shoulder:  A Review of Possible Pathophysiology states in relevant part:

A mechanical origin for cervical disc degeneration and osteoarthrosis is reported for a few occupational groups.  However, a mechanical origin for osteoarthrosis is debatable.  A work posture involving elevated arms may accelerate degeneration of shoulder tendons through impairment of circulation due to static tension and humeral compression against the coracoacromial arch.  Furthermore, work tasks with repetitive arm movements may evoke shoulder tendinits or tendovaginitis, probably due to friction.
(Clmt’s Ex. 8, pp. 1-9)


An article from the Journal of Occup. Environ Med, by B. A. Silverstein, 2008, entitled Rotator Cuff Syndrome:  Personal, Work-related Psychosocial and Physical Loud Factors states in relevant part:

Conclusions


RCS [Rotator Cuff Syndrome] presents a significant burden to workers, employers, and society.  Physical load factors at work such as increasing percent time with shoulder flexion and high hand forces, particularly pinch forces, particularly pinch forces, increase the odds of RCS.  Important individual factors include age and BMI [Body Mass Index].  Gender was not a significant factor in this study but physical exposures may have a differential effect on men and women.  Those with high job security had a lower prevalence of RCS.  Work organizational factors may have an impact on both physical and psychosocial loads and should be explored further.
(Clmt’s Ex. 9, pp. 1-15)


An article from Occup Environ Med (1999) entitled Shoulder Impingement Syndrome in Relation to Shoulder Intensive Work states in relevant part:

In conclusion, we found that the results of this study support the hypothesis that sustained intensive work that stresses the shoulders as much as in a Danish slaughterhouse is a risk factor for developing impingement syndrome characterized by functional impairment of the affected shoulder.  The risk substantially increases after a few years of experience and tends to increase further with cumulative exposure.  Selection mechanisms and differences in mean duration of the underlying shoulder disorders may, however, have influenced the dose-exposure patterns.  To prevent work related shoulder disorders exposure time should be reduced, especially in tasks in which combinations of force, repetition, and sustained arm elevation are hard to prevent.

(Clmt’s Ex. 10, pp. 1-5)


The conclusion portion of articles from Occupational Disorder Management (1996) entitled Epidemiology of Work-Related Musculoskeletal Disorders and Shoulder Pain in the Work Place were not included in the record.  (Clmt’s Ex. 11, pp. 1-7; Clmt’s Ex. 12, pp. 1-5)


Figure 16-38 from what appears to be the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, 5th Edition, shows shoulder flexion from 0 to 180º and extension from 0º to 50º.  (Clmt’s Ex. 7)  The AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Disease and Injury Causation states impingement syndrome of the shoulder occurs during shoulder elevation (abduction and/or flexion between 70º and 120º and occupational risk factors for shoulder tendinitis, impingement and rotator cuff tears are highly repetitive work alone or in combination with other factors and “sustained shoulder postures with more than 60º of flexion or abduction.”  (Jt. Ex. 20, (13), p. 3)  
From 2000 through 2008 claimant worked from 759.96 hours (2008) to 2257.50 hours (2005) in a year.  (Jt. Ex. 3)  Claimant has incurred medical expenses for treatment.  (Jt. Ex. 34)


Claimant testified at the evidentiary hearing on October 27, 2009, that following being taken off work on April 16, 2008, for her left shoulder surgery on May 9, 2008, and physical therapy she returned to work in November 2008.  (Claimant’s testimony)

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

The first issues to be resolved are whether claimant sustained an injury to the right shoulder and/or the left shoulder on September 5, 2007, January 8, 2008, or April 15, 2008, which arose out of and in the course of her employment.
The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6).

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the alleged injury actually occurred and that it both arose out of and in the course of the employment.  Quaker Oats Co. v. Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143 (Iowa 1996); Miedema v. Dial Corp., 551 N.W.2d 309 (Iowa 1996).  The words “arising out of” referred to the cause or source of the injury.  The words “in the course of” refer to the time, place, and circumstances of the injury.  2800 Corp. v. Fernandez, 528 N.W.2d 124 (Iowa 1995).  An injury arises out of the employment when a causal relationship exists between the injury and the employment.  Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  The injury must be a rational consequence of a hazard connected with the employment and not merely incidental to the employment.  Koehler Electric v. Wills, 608 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2000); Miedema, 551 N.W.2d 309.  An injury occurs “in the course of” employment when it happens within a period of employment at a place where the employee reasonably may be when performing employment duties and while the employee is fulfilling those duties or doing an activity incidental to them.  Ciha, 552 N.W.2d 143.

A personal injury contemplated by the workers’ compensation law means an injury, the impairment of health or a disease resulting from an injury which comes about, not through the natural building up and tearing down of the human body, but because of trauma.  The injury must be something that acts extraneously to the natural processes of nature and thereby impairs the health, interrupts or otherwise destroys or damages a part or all of the body.  Although many injuries have a traumatic onset, there is no requirement for a special incident or an unusual occurrence.  Injuries which result from cumulative trauma are compensable.  Increased disability from a prior injury, even if brought about by further work, does not constitute a new injury, however.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).  An occupational disease covered by chapter 85A is specifically excluded from the definition of personal injury.  Iowa Code section 85.61(4) (b); Iowa Code section 85A.8; Iowa Code section 85A.14.

When the injury develops gradually over time, the cumulative injury rule applies.  The date of injury for cumulative injury purposes is the date on which the disability manifests.  Manifestation is best characterized as that date on which both the fact of injury and the causal relationship of the injury to the claimant’s employment would be plainly apparent to a reasonable person.  The date of manifestation inherently is a fact based determination.  The fact-finder is entitled to substantial latitude in making this determination and may consider a variety of factors, none of which is necessarily dispositive in establishing a manifestation date.  Among others, the factors may include missing work when the condition prevents performing the job, or receiving significant medical care for the condition.  For time limitation purposes, the discovery rule then becomes pertinent so the statute of limitations does not begin to run until the employee, as a reasonable person, knows or should know, that the cumulative injury condition is serious enough to have a permanent, adverse impact on his or her employment.  Herrera v. IBP, Inc., 633 N.W.2d 284 (Iowa 2001); Oscar Mayer Foods Corp. v. Tasler, 483 N.W.2d 824 (Iowa 1992); McKeever Custom Cabinets v. Smith, 379 N.W.2d 368 (Iowa 1985).

While a claimant is not entitled to compensation for the results of a preexisting injury or disease, its mere existence at the time of a subsequent injury is not a defense.  Rose v. John Deere Ottumwa Works, 247 Iowa 900, 76 N.W.2d 756 (1956).  If the claimant had a preexisting condition or disability that is materially aggravated, accelerated, worsened or lighted up so that it results in disability, claimant is entitled to recover.  Nicks v. Davenport Produce Co., 254 Iowa 130, 115 N.W.2d 812 (1962); Yeager v. Firestone Tire & Rubber Co., 253 Iowa 369, 112 N.W.2d 299 (1961).

There is little doubt that claimant did repetitive work at John Morrell involving the use of her hands/arms.  There is also little doubt based on the April 24, 2008, MRIs she had bilateral rotator cuff tears.  The visceral response would be to conclude that the work resulted in a work injury.  Based on some of the evidence claimant has submitted, namely the studies from several publications, that is what claimant would have the undersigned find.  Those studies are of little value in reaching conclusions here because they did not study the job or jobs that claimant did.  The question to be resolved is not generally whether certain studied repetitive activities can cause an injury but rather whether  this claimant’s job activities caused her alleged injuries.  It is also noted that Dr. Martin’s opinion that some of the studies represented a minority position is uncontradicted in the record.  (Dr. O’Neil was never asked whether the studies represented a minority or a majority position.)  It is also noted that the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Disease and Injury Causation refer to sustained shoulder postures with more than 60º of flexion or abduction and it certainly appears that no one here found that claimant’s activities involved sustained shoulder flexion abduction of more than 60º.  
What is unsettling in this case is that individuals offering opinions from the same evidence can draw such different conclusions.  Dr. Martin who had viewed the jobs claimant did on multiple occasions over a period of years did not think the activities would cause rotator cuff tears.  Dr. Luther agreed with Dr. Martin’s opinion and did not believe there were sufficient biomechanical risk factors to cause either rotator cuff tears.  Dr. Martin did not think the jobs required flexion beyond 70º and even if flexion went beyond 70º it was “woefully short of the definition of sustained.”  Mr. DeNell on the other hand found the jobs involved shoulder flexion of 65 - 82 degrees on a consistent basis and flexion several times of 85 to 90 degrees.  Dr. O’Neil opined that claimant’s work activities caused the rotator cuff tears in both the right and left shoulders.  Dr. Nelson viewed the video of the jobs and concluded that the job activities caused or accelerated her shoulder “pathologies.”  It is noted that claimant’s subjective report of her job activities and her attorney’s apparent subjective determination of the amount of flexion involved are not particularly reliable.  Dr. Martin’s conclusion that the bilateral rotator cuff tears (demonstrated in the April 24, 2008 MRIs) were degenerative and caused by bone spurs has some attraction.  It just seems to make some sense that the same findings for each shoulder in MRIs taken the same day of an individual who was right hand dominant would be more related to a degenerative condition than repetitive activities.  However, both Dr. O’Neil and Dr. Nelson were aware of the April 24, 2008, MRI, and they opined claimant sustained injuries from her work activities.  It is acknowledged that Dr. Martin’s former association with John Morrell and the fact that Dr. O’Neil was retained for litigation purposes only affect the weight given to their opinions.  It is a close question but it is concluded that the greater weight of medical evidence and the facts of this case show that claimant sustained an injury to her bilateral shoulders from her work activities.  The appropriate date of injury would be April 15, 2008, when claimant was first taken off work for bilateral shoulder pain.  It is noted that the mechanism of a possible right shoulder injury on September 5, 2007, is not clear i.e. whether it was repetitive or traumatic and whether claimant could have been engaged in the specific event she alleged, namely using a hook on frozen meat.  Claimant has failed to prove an injury to the right shoulder on September 5, 2007.
The next issue to be resolved is whether the injury on April 15, 2008 is a cause of a temporary disability for the period April 16, 2008, through November 5, 2008.

The party who would suffer loss if an issue were not established has the burden of proving that issue by a preponderance of the evidence.  Iowa R. App. P. 6.14(6).

The claimant has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the injury is a proximate cause of the disability on which the claim is based.  A cause is proximate if it is a substantial factor in bringing about the result; it need not be the only cause.  A preponderance of the evidence exists when the causal connection is probable rather than merely possible.  George A. Hormel & Co. v. Jordan, 569 N.W.2d 148 (Iowa 1997); Frye v. Smith-Doyle Contractors, 569 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa App. 1997); Sanchez v. Blue Bird Midwest, 554 N.W.2d 283 (Iowa App. 1996).

The question of causal connection is essentially within the domain of expert testimony.  The expert medical evidence must be considered with all other evidence introduced bearing on the causal connection between the injury and the disability.  Supportive lay testimony may be used to buttress the expert testimony and, therefore, is also relevant and material to the causation question.  The weight to be given to an expert opinion is determined by the finder of fact and may be affected by the accuracy of the facts the expert relied upon as well as other surrounding circumstances.  The expert opinion may be accepted or rejected, in whole or in part.  St. Luke’s Hosp. v. Gray, 604 N.W.2d 646 (Iowa 2000); IBP, Inc. v. Harpole, 621 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 2001); Dunlavey v. Economy Fire and Cas. Co., 526 N.W.2d 845 (Iowa 1995).  Miller v. Lauridsen Foods, Inc., 525 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 1994).  Unrebutted expert medical testimony cannot be summarily rejected.  Poula v. Siouxland Wall & Ceiling, Inc., 516 N.W.2d 910 (Iowa App. 1994).

Healing period compensation describes temporary workers’ compensation weekly benefits that precede an allowance of permanent partial disability benefits.  Ellingson v. Fleetguard, Inc., 599 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 1999).  Section 85.34(1) provides that healing period benefits are payable to an injured worker who has suffered permanent partial disability until the first to occur of three events.  These are:  (1) the worker has returned to work; (2) the worker medically is capable of returning to substantially similar employment; or (3) the worker has achieved maximum medical recovery.  Maximum medical recovery is achieved when healing is complete and the extent of permanent disability can be determined.  Armstrong Tire & Rubber Co. v. Kubli, Iowa App., 312 N.W.2d 60 (Iowa 1981).  Neither maintenance medical care nor an employee's continuing to have pain or other symptoms necessarily prolongs the healing period.

Because as will be concluded below claimant has  a permanent disability to the left shoulder, the temporary benefits are classified as healing period benefits.  As concluded above claimant sustained a bilateral shoulder injury on April 15, 2008.  She was taken off work on that day because of the injury.  She later had left shoulder surgery and physical therapy.  Claimant returned to light duty work on October 3, 2008.  Claimant’s healing period ended on October 2, 2008.  Claimant’s healing period ended on October 2, 2008, when she returned to light duty work.  The light duty work appears to have been substantially similar to the work she was doing at the time of her April 15, 2008, injury.  Claimant has failed to prove she is entitled to healing period benefits beyond October 2, 2008.
The stipulated weekly rate of compensation of $393.81 will be accepted notwithstanding the fact that that rate cannot be reconciled with the stipulated average gross weekly earnings of $624.71 using the Iowa Workers’ Compensation Manual for a April 15, 2008, injury date.  

The last issue to be resolved is whether the injury on April 25, 2008, is a cause of a permanent disability of the left shoulder.  The law regarding burden of proof and causation cited above is applicable but will not be repeated.

Claimant sustained a bilateral shoulder injury on April 15, 2008, she had surgery to the left shoulder on May 9, 2008.  Dr. Nelson and Dr. O’Neil have recommended permanent restrictions.  Dr. O’Neil has rated claimant’s permanent impairment as 15 percent of the left upper extremity.  Those opinions are uncontradicted in the record.  Claimant has proved that the April 15, 2008, injury caused a permanent disability to the left shoulder.  
ORDER

THEREFORE, it is ordered:

For file number 507068 (injury date September 5, 2007):

That claimant shall take nothing from these proceedings.

For file number 5027067 (injury date January 8, 2008):

That claimant shall take nothing from these proceedings.

For file number 5031142 (injury date April 15, 2008):  

That defendant is to pay unto claimant healing period benefits from April 16, 2008»,» until October 2, 2008,» »at the rate of » three hundred ninety-three and 81»/100 dollars ($393.81») per week.
That defendant shall pay accrued weekly benefits in a lump sum.

That defendant shall pay interest on unpaid weekly benefits awarded herein as set forth in Iowa Code section 85.30.

That defendant is to be given credit for workers’ compensation weekly benefits and short term disability benefits previously paid.
That defendant shall file subsequent reports of injury as required by this agency pursuant to rule 876 IAC 3.1(2).

That defendant shall pay the costs of this matter pursuant to rule 876 IAC 4.33.

Signed and filed this __3rd_____ day of May, 2010.

   ________________________
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